SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BETH LINN and ANTHONY LINN,

Appellants,

v.

SC Case No. SC05-134
DCA Case No. 1D03-4152

BASIL D. FOSSUM, M.D.,

Appellee.

APPELLANTS' INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

AUSLEY & McMULLEN, P.A.
Major B. Harding
Fla. Bar #0033657
Martin B. Sipple
Fla. Bar #0135399
Jennifer M. Heckman
Fla. Bar #554677
227 South Calhoun Street
P.O. Box 391 (zip 32302)
Tallahassee, Florida 32301
(850) 224-9115 - telephone
(850) 222-7560 - facsimile

Attorneys for Appellants,
Beth and Anthony Linn

INTRODUCTION

This is a medical malpractice case involving the failure to diagnose a urine leak. The leak began when a doctor cut Beth Linn's ureter during the course of a routine exploratory surgery in 1998. The infection resulting from the extended presence of urine in Beth's abdomen caused enormous pain and other complications. Ms. Linn and her husband initiated this litigation on March 1, 2000, more than five years ago. They sued two defendants, the surgeon who cut the ureter and Dr. Basil Fossum, with whom the surgeon consulted to diagnose the cause of Beth's pain following the procedure. After three years, the Linns were finally able to get to trial in March, 2003.

At trial, plaintiff presented expert testimony that Dr. Fossum failed to comply with the standard of care. However, Dr. Fossum failed to offer admissible expert testimony to rebut this prima facie case. Not a single expert testified that, based upon his or her education, training and experience, Dr. Fossum met the standard of care. Dr. Fossum's **only** expert -- a doctor from Colorado -- testified that Dr. Fossum was insufficiently proactive in attempting to diagnose the problem. Nevertheless, the circuit court permitted this Colorado doctor to testify, over plaintiffs' objection, that Dr. Fossum met the standard of care based upon a "curbside consult" with several unidentified colleagues. The jury entered a verdict in favor of Dr. Fossum. The Linns appealed and the First District Court of Appeal affirmed over a dissent by the Honorable Charles J. Kahn.

This Court accepted jurisdiction based upon a conflict between the First District's decision and the decision of the Fourth District in Schwarz v. State, 695 So.2d 452 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997). In Schwarz, the court held that, notwithstanding the provisions of Section 90.704, Fla. Stat., an expert cannot "become a conduit for the opinion of another expert who is not subject to cross-examination." Schwarz, 695 So.2d at 455. Of course, that is precisely what happened in this case.

The First District's decision raises important legal issues and has the potential to change drastically the way trials are conducted in this State. In particular, the decision paves the way for wholesale introduction of hearsay evidence under the guise of "data reasonably relied upon" by experts. The case also arises during a time of intense legislative and public scrutiny of medical malpractice cases.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, imposition of the correct remedy is as important as resolution of the underlying evidentiary issue. As discussed in Part II, Dr. Fossum made a tactical decision to present only the Colorado expert's testimony. Because that testimony was inadmissible, Dr. Fossum failed to offer any evidence to rebut the prima facie case made by the Linns. Under settled precedent, the Linns are entitled to reversal with instructions that a judgment be entered in their favor on the issue of liability, and a new trial conducted solely on the issue of damages.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In August, 1998, Beth Linn sought medical treatment from Dr. Dennis Lewis, a general surgeon, for pain in her abdomen. (R. III/512/513).¹ On October 16, 1998, Dr. Lewis performed a diagnostic laparoscopy, e.g., a surgical operation in which a lighted scope is inserted into the pelvis in order to explore for abnormalities in the abdomen. (R. III/574). During the course of the laparoscopy, Dr. Lewis cut Ms. Linn's ureter, causing urine to begin leaking into Ms. Linn's abdomen. (R. III/901/942). The surgeon was unaware of the incident at the time of the procedure.

On October 23, 1998, Ms. Linn returned to Dr. Lewis' office to have her sutures removed. (R. III/512/566). During the visit, she complained of pain and nausea. (R. III/512/566). On the way home, Ms. Linn collapsed onto the floorboard of the vehicle. (R. I/1/2). The Linns proceeded immediately to the emergency room at Twin Cities Hospital in Niceville, Florida. (R. I/1/2). Ms. Linn was admitted to the hospital and Dr. Lewis ordered several radiological tests. (R. III/576). The radiological tests included a renal ultrasound and a nuclear medicine renal scan. (R. III/586 & 587). These tests revealed "extensive fluid present above the bladder." (R. III/587).

¹ Citations to the circuit court record will refer to the volume, first page of the document and, as applicable, the pertinent page of the document. E.g., "(R. II/13/26)" refers to page 26 of the document that begins at page 13 of Volume II. The Linns also filed a 227-page appendix in the District Court. Citations to that appendix will be in the form "(A. ____)."

Based upon this fluid collection, the radiologist specifically raised the possibility of a "cut ureter." (R. III/586 & 587).

Dr. Lewis requested a consultation from Dr. Fossum, a urologist. (R. III/576/578). Dr. Fossum visited Ms. Linn for the first time on October 25, 1998. (R. III/588). Dr. Fossum performed a "bilateral retrograde pyelogram." (R. III/588). Though the leak certainly existed, Dr. Fossum failed to diagnose it. (R. III/588). Both Dr. Lewis and Dr. Fossum regarded the retrograde pyelogram as conclusive and performed no further tests to resolve the inconsistency between the initial radiological studies and Dr. Fossum's negative result.

Following the procedures on October 25, 1998, Ms. Linn spent two more days at Twin Cities Hospital. During that time, neither Dr. Lewis nor Dr. Fossum performed any significant examinations or tests, or made any other efforts to ascertain the nature of her injuries. (R. I/1/3).² The Linns became increasingly frustrated and finally, on October 27, 1998, requested that Ms. Linn be permitted to undergo further tests on an outpatient basis. (R. IV/740/745). Dr. Lewis did not advise against this request and discharged Ms. Linn. (R. IV/740/745).

The following day the Linns drove approximately six hours to Emory University Hospital in Atlanta, Georgia. (R. IV/591/596). There, the emergency room physician ordered a CT scan. (R. IV/591/605). This test showed a large fluid

² At one point, Dr. Lewis requested a consultation from an internal medicine specialist and suggested that Ms. Linn's problems were due to anorexia or bulimia. (R. III/589/590).

collection in the low abdomen/pelvis that was highly suggestive of a right ureter leak/injury. (R. IV/591/614). On the evening of October 29, 1998, Dr. Bruce performed a bilateral retrograde pyelogram - the same test performed by Dr. Fossum. (R. IV/591/614). Unlike Dr. Fossum, Dr. Bruce was able to diagnose the injury to Ms. Linn's ureter. (R. IV/591/614). Indeed, in his chart Dr. Bruce drew a picture of the image he saw, which plainly reveals the leak in the lower right-hand corner:

Brief Op. Note	
Exam: Dx: ureter extravasation	
Procedure: 1) @ distal ureteral lesion	2) @ cystogram
3) @ RFG	4) @ cystogram
5) @ stent	
Surgeon: Kestner	Att: Bruce
Anest: LMA	
Fluoro: crystalloid	EBL: 0
Specimen: 0	
Drain: 6x24 JJ stent	Indy: 0
Complication: 0	

00RECORD015 00040 TINUE ON BACK PRODUCED BY PLAINTIFF

(R. IV/591/630).³ Dr. Bruce inserted a stent into Ms. Linn's ureter.⁴ (R. IV/591/614). Plans were made to remove the stent within four to six weeks, followed by an IVP two to four weeks later. (R. IV/591/594).

Ms. Linn's symptoms worsened on November 3, 2003, and she went to the emergency room at Gulf Coast Medical Center in Panama City, Florida. (R. V/901/925). She was subsequently readmitted to the hospital and diagnosed with significant infection of the urine in her abdomen. (R. V/901/954). She

³ Dr. Bruce testified at trial on behalf of plaintiffs.

⁴ A stent is a small piece of rubber inserted inside the ureter that acts as an internal bandage covering the damaged area.

underwent treatment for several more months. (R. IX/1246/1942-1963).

Pre-Trial Proceedings

The Linns filed suit against Drs. Lewis and Fossum on March 1, 2000. (R. I/1). They alleged that Dr. Fossum breached the standard of care and was negligent in several respects. (R. I/1/7). The Linns retained two experts to testify on their behalf at trial. (R. I/39/Ex. B).

Dr. Fossum designated a single expert, Dr. Dana Weaver-Osterholtz, to testify on his behalf at trial. Dr. Fossum's expert disclosure stated that she would testify that Dr. Fossum "performed all the tests that are normally performed by a urologist under the circumstances." (R. III/397/411).

Plaintiffs deposed Dr. Weaver-Osterholtz on February 7, 2002. (R. III/397/414). Dr. Weaver-Osterholtz testified that she reviewed Ms. Linn's medical records for approximately ten hours. (R. III/397/420-21). Based upon that review, Dr. Weaver-Osterholtz testified that the leak was "apparent" and that she would not have adopted the "watch and wait" approach of Dr. Fossum. (R. III/397/417-419, 428-430). Her standard of care would be to insert a stent to drain the fluid based upon the initial radiological tests. (R. III/397/431, 438).

Nevertheless, she proposed to testify at trial that Dr. Fossum did not deviate from the standard of care. (R. III/397/436). This proposed testimony was based solely upon a "curbside consult" with four unnamed colleagues. (R. III/397/425-26, 437). These colleagues were given a short, two-

minute hypothetical of Ms. Linn's case. (R. III/397/435). None of the doctors reviewed Ms. Linn's medical records. (R. III/397/435). No memorialization of this "mini-poll" existed. (R. III/397/425-26). The unnamed colleagues allegedly opined that Dr. Fossum complied with the standard of care. (R. III/397/425-26). Dr. Weaver-Osterholtz candidly admitted in deposition testimony that she personally disagreed with this conclusion. (R. III/397/430, 439). However, based exclusively on this "mini-poll," she stated that she proposed to testify that Dr. Fossum's approach is "normal."

Plaintiffs moved in limine to exclude the testimony of Dr. Weaver-Osterholtz. (R. III/397). The motion asserted that her proposed testimony was a conduit for inadmissible hearsay evidence. (R. III/397/397-403). The trial court denied the motion on the morning of the first day of trial. (A. 26). Had the court granted the motion, Dr. Fossum would not have had an expert and the trial court would have had no choice but to direct a verdict in favor of plaintiffs.

Trial Testimony of Dr. Carlos Santa-Cruz

At trial, the Linns introduced the expert testimony of Dr. Carlos Santa-Cruz. (A. 73). Dr. Santa-Cruz is a board certified urologist. (A. 75). He graduated from the University of Miami Medical School and served his residency at Jackson Memorial Hospital. (A. 74). He is currently in private practice. (A. 75). He specializes in adult urology and spends approximately two days a week performing surgery. (A. 75-76).

The trial court qualified Dr. Santa-Cruz as an expert in the field of urology and urological surgery. (A. 77).

Dr. Santa-Cruz testified that Dr. Fossum deviated from the standard of care. (A. 77-78). Specifically, Dr. Santa-Cruz testified that Dr. Fossum committed three crucial omissions. First, Dr. Fossum failed to obtain a film of the retrograde pyelogram. (A. 78). Dr. Santa-Cruz explained that a retrograde pyelogram is performed by injecting dye into the ureter. The doctor views the procedure "live" on a television monitor. Most equipment, including the machine used in this case, permits the doctor to "freeze" the image on the screen and make a hard-copy x-ray. (A. 83, 86-87). Dr. Santa-Cruz explained that the hard copy often provides a clearer picture than the more "grainy" fluoroscopy. (A. 87-89). Dr. Santa-Cruz testified that, had Dr. Fossum obtained a hard copy, he would have diagnosed the leak. (A. 90).

Second, Dr. Santa-Cruz testified that Dr. Fossum performed the procedure improperly. Specifically, Dr. Fossum's injection of five CCs of iodine contrast was inadequate to detect the urine leak. (A. 80). Dr. Santa-Cruz explained that 5 CCs is the appropriate amount for other types of pathologies. (A. 80). However, when a leak is suspected, the proper procedure is to inject additional dye in order to create "pressure" and thus increase the ability to spot the leak. (A. 80).

Finally, the third omission was Dr. Fossum's failure to order additional tests after obtaining inconsistent test results -- a negative retrograde pyelogram and a positive nuclear renal

scan. (A. 78, 79). On this issue, Dr. Santa-Cruz made clear that Dr. Fossum's exclusive reliance on the negative retrograde pyelogram deviated from the standard of care:

Okay. I will tell you what would be, in my opinion, the correct thing to do. You have the two prior positive tests. We're talking about the ultrasound and the renal scan that showed a leakage of urine. . . . You have those two positive tests. They're clearly positive tests. You have a problem there. And then you do a retrograde pyelogram and the pyelogram is negative. It doesn't jive. It doesn't go with what you would expect. Therefore, when that was done, you would get some other kind of test in order to plan your next step. And that would be if there is a suspected allergy to contrast and iodine, you would get a CT scan without contrast. . . . And if the person is not truly allergic or if the allergy is minor in your mind, then you can pretreat with the Cortisone. That would have been the next - that would be the next step.

(A. 94).

Dr. Santa-Cruz further testified that Ms. Linn suffered a "spike" of severe symptoms following diagnosis of the leak. (A. 95). By the time Ms. Linn arrived at Gulf Coast Medical Center, the urine in her abdomen had become infected. (R. IV/668). Dr. Santa-Cruz testified that the spike was caused by the urine leak and that prompt diagnosis of the leak would have eased the severity of the symptoms. (A. 95). In particular, Dr. Santa-Cruz explained:

The bigger the collection, the more irritation you're going to get from the urine, the worse the symptoms are going to be and for a more prolonged period of time.

If you catch something sooner rather than later, it's less symptoms, less side effects from the findings.

(A. 96).

Trial Testimony of Dr. Dana Weaver-Osterholtz

As previously noted, the trial court denied the Linns' motion in limine and permitted Dr. Weaver-Osterholtz to testify at trial. (A. 128). Dr. Weaver-Osterholtz testified as Dr. Fossum's **only** expert witness. Dr. Weaver-Osterholtz again admitted that, based upon her education, training and experience, she would have handled the case different than Dr. Fossum. (A. 181). Dr. Weaver-Osterholtz testified that she would have immediately stented the leak and drained the urinary system. (A. 180). Specifically, Dr. Weaver-Osterholtz testified:

I would have looked at the renal scan and said, "I think she probably has a ureteral leak." I would have then done a retrograde pyelogram. If it was negative, which it was in Dr. Fossum's case, I personally would have put up two stints. . . .

(A. 180). That is exactly what Dr. Santa-Cruz testified should have been done.

Nevertheless, Dr. Weaver-Osterholtz testified that Dr. Fossum did not deviate from the standard of care. She did so based on the "curbside consult" discussed above. (A. 136). She explained that the consultation consisted of a two-minute verbal summary of the case with no opportunity for her colleagues to review medical records or deposition transcripts of other expert

testimony. (A. 175). She testified that during this consult, which was never put in writing, her colleagues opined that they would have done the same thing Dr. Fossum did. (A. 137). The Linns renewed their objections to this hearsay testimony at trial, but the trial court overruled the objection. (A. 136).

Plaintiffs' Post Trial Motion

The jury rendered a verdict against plaintiffs and found that neither defendant was negligent. (R. XII/2300). The Linns filed a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict or, in the alternative, for a new trial based upon the admission of Dr. Weaver-Osterholtz's testimony. (R. XII/2302-2310). The Linns asked the court to strike Dr. Weaver-Osterholtz's testimony and, in the absence of any expert testimony that Dr. Fossum complied with the standard of care, enter judgment in favor of the plaintiffs and against Dr. Fossum on the issue of liability. (R. XII/2302/2304). Alternatively, plaintiffs requested a new trial against Dr. Fossum. (R. XII/2302/2304). The trial court denied both motions. (R. XII/2419). The appeal to the First District followed.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Dr. Fossum did not introduce any admissible expert testimony that he complied with the standard of care. His only expert, Dr. Weaver-Osterholtz, admitted that, based upon her education, training and experience, she would **not** have employed Dr. Fossum's "wait and see" approach. Rather, she agreed with Dr. Santa-Cruz that the proper approach would be to immediately stent the ureter to stop the urine leak. Dr. Santa-Cruz

testified that immediately stenting the leak more likely than not would have avoided the severe "spike" of symptoms suffered by Ms. Linn.

In affirming, the First District permitted a defense expert to present "standard of care" testimony based upon hearsay evidence of a "curbside consult" with several unidentified colleagues. The First District's decision conflicts with the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in Schwarz v. State, 695 So.2d 452 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997). In Schwarz, the court held under materially identical circumstances that "such testimony improperly permits one expert to become a conduit for the opinion of another expert who is not subject to cross-examination." Id. at 455.

The trial court erred in denying plaintiffs' motion in limine and permitting Dr. Weaver-Osterholtz to testify. Florida law is clear that an expert may not serve as a conduit for hearsay testimony. That is exactly what the trial court permitted. The Linns were not permitted to cross-examine the unnamed doctors as to the extent of their review of the case, the basis for their alleged opinions, or as to their education, training and experience in such matters. The circuit court's admission of this hearsay is plain error and requires reversal.

The appropriate remedy on remand is the entry of judgment in favor of the Linns on the issue of liability. Where, as here, the plaintiff establishes a prima facie case of liability, Florida law requires the defendant in a professional malpractice case to present expert testimony of compliance with the standard

of care. Dr. Fossum failed to introduce any such testimony. Dr. Fossum chose to rely on a single expert and assumed the risk that, if Dr. Weaver-Osterholtz's testimony was declared inadmissible, he would lose the case. This Court should remand for the entry of judgment in favor of the Linns on the issue of liability, and a new trial solely on the issue of damages.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING THE HEARSAY TESTIMONY OF DR. WEAVER-OSTERHOLTZ AS THE SOLE BASIS FOR HER OPINION THAT DR. FOSSUM COMPLIED WITH THE STANDARD OF CARE.

The trial court committed plain error in admitting the testimony of Dr. Weaver-Osterholtz. Her testimony was nothing more than a conduit for inadmissible hearsay evidence. The trial court should have granted plaintiffs' motion in limine to exclude this testimony. The trial court compounded its error by overruling plaintiffs' renewed objections to the testimony at trial. The result was a fundamentally unfair trial.

Standard of Review

The facts or data upon which an expert may rely in rendering an opinion are prescribed in Section 90.704, Fla. Stat. The Linns assert that the trial court improperly applied Section 90.704 and improperly admitted the testimony of Dr. Weaver-Osterholtz. The application of Section 90.704 and the decision to admit inadmissible hearsay testimony is a matter of law. As such, the standard of review is de novo. Gilliam v. Smart, 809 So.2d 905 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002) (appellate court

reviews de novo a trial court's erroneous interpretation and application of state law); Berry v. CSX Transp., Inc., 709 So. 2d 552 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998) (appellate court reviewed trial court's ruling on the admissibility of expert opinion testimony as a matter of law).

Regardless of the standard, the trial court's decision to admit the hearsay testimony of Dr. Weaver-Osterholtz, whose opinion was based solely on an alleged conversation with four unnamed colleagues, was clear error and the First District's decision should be reversed.

Standard for Expert Testimony

This Court has identified four requirements for admission of expert testimony: (1) the opinion must help the trier of fact; (2) the witness must be qualified as an expert; (3) the opinion must be capable of being applied to evidence at trial; and (4) the probative value of the opinion must not be substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Glendening v. State, 536 So.2d 212, 220 (Fla. 1988), citing Sections 90.702, 90.703, 90.403, Fla. Stat.

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