IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

-

CASE NO. SC05-134 LOWER TRIBUNAL CASE NO. 1D03-4152

BETH LINN and ANTHONY LINN,

Petitioners,

VS.

BASIL D. FOSSUM, M.D. and DENNIS M. LEWIS, M.D.,

Respondents.

BRIEF ON MERITS OF RESPONDENT, BASIL D. FOSSUM, M.D.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM A DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

S. William Fuller, Jr., Esq. William D. Horgan, Esq. FULLER, JOHNSON, ET AL. 111 North Calhoun Street

Tallahassee, FL 32302

Telephone: (850) 224-4663 Facsimile: (850) 561-8839 Mark Hicks, Esq.

Richard A. Warren, Esq. HICKS & KNEALE, P.A. 799 Brickell Plaza, 9th Floor

Miami, FL 33131

Telephone: (305) 374-8171 Facsimile: (305) 372-8038

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Because *Schwarz v. State* involved an objection on the basis that the expert improperly bolstered his testimony by referring to the opinions of other experts, it fails to create a conflict with the decision of the First District in this case because Linn made no objection based upon improper bolstering.

The objection that was made, that Dr. Weaver-Osterholtz' opinions were based solely on hearsay, is not supported by the record. Dr. Weaver-Osterholtz did not convey inadmissible evidence to the jury because she did not state the substance of the other urologists' opinions on direct. She also testified that she relied on other sources and upon her own knowledge, training and experience in reaching her opinions, and her testimony demonstrates that fact. Her testimony was therefore not a conduit for hearsay.

Dr. Weaver-Osterholtz was also properly allowed to state that she relied on her consultations with experts in the same specialty. The distinction made in *Schwarz* between reliance on opinions of experts in other specialties and on opinions of experts in the same specialty is contrary to the purpose of section 90.704, Florida Statutes and to the cases interpreting that statute. Reliance on the opinions of other doctors in the same specialty is in fact necessary when the standard of care is at issue. By definition, the standard of care requires a physician

to tell the jury what he or she has learned or observed from or discussed with similar physicians as the acceptable and appropriate practice.

Dr. Weaver-Osterholtz could also not be a conduit for hearsay because her statement that she relied upon consultations as one basis for her opinion, without stating what the opinions of the consulting physicians were, is not hearsay. No other court has followed *Schwarz* in holding that hearsay may be inferred from the mere fact that an expert names out-of-court sources as the basis for his or her opinion, and in fact the cases are to the contrary.

If this court reverses, the proper remedy is to remand for a new trial on liability. Even without the opinion based on consultations with other urologists, Dr. Weaver Osterholtz' testimony was sufficient to create a jury question regarding the standard of care. Even if her testimony were excluded entirely, expert testimony is not necessary to sustain a defense verdict where, as here, the testimony of the plaintiff's expert is called into question on cross-examination and by other evidence in the case.

ARGUMENT

FIRST ISSUE

AN EXPERT MAY PROPERLY STATE THAT SHE RELIED ON THE OPINIONS OF OTHER EXPERTS, AND THE FACT THAT SHE RELIED ON OTHER EXPERTS DOES NOT MAKE HER TESTIMONY A CONDUIT FOR INADMISSIBLE HEARSAY.

Although Linn has cited *Schwarz v. State*, 695 So. 2d 452 (Fla. 4^h DCA 1997), as the basis for conflict, Linn's position in the trial court and on appeal was and is essentially that Dr. Weaver-Osterholtz should not have been permitted to testify at all because her opinions were based solely on the hearsay statements of the other doctors. In *Schwarz*, to the contrary, the court recognized that the expert could give his opinions, even though he relied on the opinions of other experts. The limited question addressed in *Schwarz* was whether the expert could <u>say</u> that he relied on those opinions.

Schwarz was a murder case. The expert, a pathologist, testified on direct examination that he had consulted with two pathologists on his staff and three other pathologists about the cause of death. The defendant objected on the basis that this testimony improperly bolstered the expert's opinion, and raised the same issue on appeal. *Id.* at 454-55. The Fourth District noted that section 90.704, Florida Statutes, allows experts to rely on the opinions of other experts in forming their own opinions, and that the rule allows experts to testify that they did so. *Id.*

at 454-55. However, the court distinguished cases where the experts were permitted to testify that they relied on the opinions of other experts on the ground that the expert in *Schwarz* consulted with other experts in his same specialty. *Id.* at 455. The Fourth District, finding no precedent on this issue, determined that the cases prohibiting experts from bolstering their opinions with the opinions of other experts applied, even though the expert did not state what the opinions of the other experts were.

The precise issue before us is not whether Dr. Burton could testify that other experts in his field agreed with him, but rather whether he could testify that he had consulted other experts in his same field. In the absence of any persuasive authority to the contrary, we conclude that Dr. Burton should not have been permitted to do so. There is too much of a possibility of an inference being drawn that these experts agreed with Dr. Burton. Any probative value would be "substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of issues, misleading the jury . . ." § 90.403, Fla. Stat. Accordingly, while there was nothing improper about Dr. Burton consulting with other experts in his field, he should not have been allowed to testify that he did so on direct examination.

Id. at 455. "Such testimony improperly permits one expert to become a conduit for the opinion of another expert who is not subject to cross-examination." *Ibid*.

Although *Schwarz* refers to the expert as a "conduit for hearsay", it is not really a "conduit for hearsay" case, but rather an improper bolstering case. *Schwarz* acknowledged that the opinion of the expert based on consultations with other experts was not hearsay, and held only that disclosing the fact of those

consultations was error. As the majority in the First District noted, Linn never raised an "improper bolstering" objection below or on appeal; her only objection was that Dr. Weaver-Osterholtz' opinion was based entirely on hearsay and should not be admitted. Linn has accordingly waived any bolstering objection. *See Schwarz* (objection that expert's comment was "self-serving" did not preserve error based on rule prohibiting experts from commenting on credibility of other experts). The dissenting judge failed to recognize, in relying on *Schwarz*, that such an objection was not preserved for appeal.

There is therefore no conflict between this decision and *Schwarz*. Nevertheless, because of this court's citation of *Schwarz* as a conflicting decision, Appellee will address both the propriety of Dr. Weaver-Osterholtz' reference to her consultations as one basis for her opinion and whether her testimony on the standard of care was solely a conduit for hearsay.

A. Standard of Review

"The standard of review for trial court decisions concerning the qualifications of expert witnesses and the scope of their testimony is abuse of discretion." *County of Volusia v. Kemp*, 764 So. 2d 770, 773 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000). Florida courts have consistently applied the abuse of discretion standard when determining the proper scope of an expert's testimony under section 90.704, Florida Statutes. *See Carratelli v. State*, 832 So. 2d 850 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003) (trial

court did not abuse its discretion in admitting expert testimony based on inadmissible evidence); *Maklakiewicz v. Berton*, 652 So. 2d 1208 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995) (trial court abused its discretion in admitting expert testimony based solely on inadmissible hearsay). The abuse of discretion standard is appropriate because the trial court in applying section 90.704 must determine the factual question of whether the inadmissible evidence is "of a type reasonably relied upon by experts in the subject to support the opinion expressed"

The case cited by Appellant, *Berry v. CSX Transportation., Inc.*, 709 So. 2d 552, 557 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998), holds that the appropriate standard of review of a *Frye* issue is *de novo*. Admissibility of novel scientific evidence under *Frye* is an exception to the abuse of discretion rule applicable to other types of expert testimony. *See Williams v. State*, 710 So. 2d 24, 32 n. 13 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998) ("if it is determined that *Frye* does not apply, the admissibility of expert testimony lies within the broad discretion of the trial court which will not be reversed on appeal absent a showing of abuse."). No *Frye* issue is involved in this case.

B. Dr. Weaver-Osterholtz' opinions were not based solely on hearsay.

The dispute between the majority and dissenting opinions in the First District was not over whether Dr. Weaver-Osterholtz could state that she relied on the opinions of other doctors, or indeed whether she could state what those opinions were (since that testimony was brought out by Linn on cross, who thereby

waived any objection to the admissibility of the opinions themselves) – the only disagreement was on whether she relied <u>solely</u> on those opinions as the basis for her testimony.

This dispute centers on a line of cases holding that an expert may not render an opinion based exclusively on inadmissible evidence. See, e.g., Maklakiewicz v. Berton, 652 So. 2d 1208 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995) (police investigator served solely as a conduit for inadmissible hearsay where his conclusion was based entirely on the observations of a person who did not testify at trial); Riggins v. Mariner Boat Works, Inc., 545 So. 2d 430 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989) (chemist's recitation of the bloodalcohol level stated in an inadmissible laboratory report only served to help the jury understand the inadmissible document rather than the evidence at trial where the expert merely multiplied the level by a standard conversion factor in reaching his opinion); Smithson v. V.M.S. Realty, Inc., 536 So. 2d 260 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989) (expert who merely recited the perpetrators' out-of-court explanations of their scheme in committing the crime when questioned about the adequacy of defendant's security served merely as a conduit for the presentation of inadmissible evidence).

This line of cases is distinguishable because the experts in these cases conveyed the inadmissible evidence to the jury. Dr. Weaver-Osterholtz, to the

contrary, did not state the substance of the other urologists' opinions on direct.

Those opinions were only brought out by Linn's counsel on cross and on redirect.

These cases also do not apply where the expert relies on sources other than the inadmissible evidence in reaching his or her opinions. In Capehart v. State, 583 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1991), for instance, the defendant argued that the trial court erred in permitting a medical examiner to testify regarding the cause of death and the condition of the victim's body because she did not perform the autopsy and based her testimony on an autopsy report prepared by another examiner. This court held that her testimony was proper because she was qualified as an expert without objection (as in this case²) and because she formed her opinion by relying not only upon the autopsy report, but also upon a toxicology report, evidence receipts, photographs of the body, and all other paperwork filed in the case. *Id.* at 1012-13. See Carratelli v. State, 832 So. 2d 850, 861-62 (Fla. 4^h DCA 2003) (distinguishing Riggins and Maklakiewicz because the expert's opinion "was not based exclusively on inadmissible data."); Sikes v. Seaboard Coastline Railroad Co., 429 So. 2d 1216, 1222-23 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) (where expert accident reconstructionologist relied on depositions, surveys, visits to the site and pictures of the site in addition to the hearsay statements of witnesses, his opinion did not

-

² Linn made no objection based on Dr. Weaver-Osterholtz' qualifications under section 90.702, Florida Statutes, and in fact conceded that she was qualified. T. 134.

parallel that of an outside witness, and was not a conduit for hearsay, because it was founded upon more than conversations with a witness).

Dr. Weaver-Osterholtz reviewed the medical records and "a lot of depositions" in forming her opinions on the standard of care. T. 135. Linn and the dissenting judge focus on the form of the question posed to Dr. Weaver-Osterholtz on direct that prompted her opinion on the standard of care: "And based upon that determination of what the appropriate standard of care is for this case, did you come to an opinion as to whether Dr. Fossum met the standard of care?" T. 136-37 (emphasis added); see Initial Brief at 22-23. This question is taken out of context. Although this question immediately followed Dr. Weaver-Osterholtz' statement that she relied on the consultations, it also followed her testimony that she considered the depositions and medical records in reaching her opinion on the standard of care.

- Q At my request, have you reviewed some ecords in this case involving a patient by the name of Beth Linn?
 - A Yes. I've reviewed a lot of records.
 - Q And a lot of depositions?
 - A And a lot of depositions.
- Q Okay. And <u>in that review</u>, I had asked you to render some opinions regarding the "standard of care"; did I not?
 - A Correct.

T. 135 (emphasis added). Read in the context of all of the preceding testimony, her "determination" was also based on the records and depositions (and obviously on the training and experience that she applied in analyzing these documents).

Indeed, as demonstrated below, much of her testimony on the standard of care was in fact based on the records and on her training and experience.

On cross-examination, Dr. Weaver-Osterholtz again explained that she relied on the records and the depositions in forming her opinion.

Q The only basis for your opinion today is what other doctors have told you, right, through these presentations?

A It's one of the basis.

T. 176. The other bases were the literature, her knowledge, her experience and training, and the medical records and depositions. T. 177-78 (quoted at length in the Statement of Facts). She relied on medical literature on the effectiveness of CT exams, for example. T. 145. Based on the results of the tests contained in the records, Dr. Weaver-Osterholtz concluded that Linn's leak was a small leak. T. 146, 208. She also relied on literature for the fact one-third to two-thirds of the diagnoses of ureteral leaks are delayed, showing that such leaks are hard to diagnose. T. 151.

Because Dr. Weaver-Osterholtz relied on other sources in conjunction with her consultations with other urologists in forming her opinions, the "conduit" cases do not apply.

The "conduit" cases also do not apply where the expert uses his or her own knowledge, training and experience in interpreting or applying the inadmissible evidence. *See Kloster Cruise*, *Ltd. v. Rentz*, 733 So. 2d 1102, 1103 (Fla. 3d DCA

1999) (trial court acted within its discretion in allowing the expert on direct examination to present inadmissible data as the basis for his expert opinion where the underlying data was the beginning point for analysis, but some further analysis was required by the expert in order to apply the data); *Thunderbird, Ltd. v. Great American Ins. Co.*, 566 So. 2d 1296, 1304-05 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) (distinguishing *Smithson* because the expert in that case testified to hearsay statements "without any refinement on his part, thereby essentially serving as a conduit for the inadmissible hearsay."); *Hungerford v. Mathews*, 511 So. 2d 1127, 1129 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987) (physician did not serve merely as a conduit for hearsay when physician was not called merely for the purpose of disclosing the details of the boating accident but rather as an independent examining physician).

In medical cases, an expert physician may properly base his opinion on his training and experience and on consultations with other doctors. *See Patey v. Lainhart*, 977 P.2d 1193, 1197 (Utah 1999) (consultation with other experts in the same field did not disqualify expert who also applied his own knowledge and training to testify about dental diagnosis); *State v. Lundstrom*, 776 P.2d 1067 (Ariz. 1989) (expert properly relied on consultation with expert in same field as part of his opinion); *McClellan v. Morrison*, 434 A.2d 28 (Me. 1981) (physician could base opinion on cause of injury on conversation with neurologist where that was but one of the deliberative steps he took in forming opinion); *Conway v. Bayhealth*

Medical Center, Inc., No. Civ.A. 99C-060038 WLW, 2001 WL 337228 (Del. Super. Mar. 26, 2001) (physician could base testimony on the standard of care on conversations with other doctors about their practice, in addition to his own experience). *Cf. Kim v. Nazarian*, 576 N.E.2d 427 (Ill. App. 1991) (expert may base his opinion on consultations with other doctors in the same specialty, in addition to his own review, but may not state that those experts agreed with his opinion).

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